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The Glover House is located in Newtown, Connecticut, occupying 
a prominent position along the eastern §ide of the town's Main Street, 
approximately one-quarter mile north of the junction of Routes 6 and 
2$. To its immediate -north and south are found other large residences 
built in various eighteenth- and nineteenth-century styles; while 
across the street lies the Town Hall together with a row of stores 
and other older homes.

Built in 1869 in the Second Empire style, the Glover House is 
a commodious, frame residence consisting of a large, three-story 
central block with a two-story service wing to the rear. The distinc­ 
tive Mansard roof is covered with slate, while the house's exterior 
sidewalls are sheathed with clapboards.

The three-bay main facade of the house is strictly symetrical. 
It is dominated by a projecting central pavillion, capped by a small 
tower, and a wide front porch, supported by Corinthian columns, which 
shelters the main entry. This regularity, however, is dispensed with 
on the sides and rear of the house which reveal a skillful if eclec­ 
tic use of irregular masses to enhance the comfort and usefulness 
of the rooms within. Thus, the house's south side has a projecting, 
three-story, half-hexagonal bay which is carried upward to the roof, 
On the first floor, this bay is used to light the dining room, achiev­ 
ing both extra room and the dramatic effect of a gracefully curving, 
fenestrated wall. Behind, or to the east side of the house, the two- 
story service ell terminates in a small porch. On the north side is 
another projecting bay, a shallow, square-sided appendage, which acts 
as a shield to the private veran&a or gallery leading out from the 
morning room. In sum, the overall design of the house skillfully 
combines large masses for both aesthetic and functional purposes.

The house's exterior contains a number of highly interesting 
decorative elements. First, the steeply sloping sides of the Mansard 
roof are covered with slates of three different shapes, Directly 
under the molded curb which is supported by small modillions, one 
finds three courses of diamond-shaped slates. The first and third 
courses are blue-grey, but the second is brick red which forms a 
pleasing band of contrasting color around the top of the roof. 
Below these diamond-shaped courses, there are sixteen courses of 
fishscale slates followed by eight courses whose slates are rectang­ 
ularly shaped. On the main facade, three dormer windows are framed 
into the Mansard roof (with two dormers on the north and south sides). 
Over the windows are steeply-pitched slate roofs with applied wooden 
trim in the tympanum above the moldings of the round-headed, 2~over-2 
sash. The sides of these dormers are buttressed by large, upturned 
consoles. The rest of the fenestration is also highly decorative. 
The second-floor windows are large, round-headed, 2-over-2 sash under 
heavily molded window hoods in the form of segmental arches. The 
first-floor windows are square, 2-over-2 sash with heavily molded
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Glover House possesses two areas of significance. 
and of greater consequence, the structure is an excellent example of 
the Second Empire architectural style as interpreted in a domestic 
residence (National Register criterion 0). Second, until recently, 
the house has remained in the same familyf and the lives of its mem­ 
bers clearly mirrored the kind of existence that an upper-middle class 
family led in a typical American small town of the late nineteenth and 
twentieth centuries (National Register criterion A)«

The Glover House is a noteworthy example of a gentleman's resi­ 
dence built in the Second Empire style. This architectural mode, 
introduced into America from France (its particular inspiration was 
the neo-Baroque additions to the Louvre begun in 1852), gained enthus­ 
iastic acceptance in the late 1850s and 1860s5 arid, as a result, many 
large Second Empire commercial and municipal buildings were constructed 
across the country during these years. At the same time, the growing 
popularity of Second Empire construction caught the fancy of wealthy 
men who demanded private residences built in the new style. One such 
iudividual was Henry Beers ®lover, a prominent banker and resident of 
Newtown, Connecticut, whose house, completed in 1869, was a catalogue 
of Second Empire design principles and ornamentation.

The hallmark of the style was, of course, the steeply-pitched 
Mansard roof, finished with a curb around its upper edge. This roof 
always included dormer windows of various forms. Below the roof, such 
houses followed a variety of designs; but most emphasized their verti­ 
cal dimensions through the massing of tall bays, towers and pavillions. 
The exterior and interior decoration was usually rich although often 
cluttered, revealing a good deal of local diversity In the choice and 
mixture of architectural elements such as brackets, consoles, window 
hood moldings, window shapes, porch columns and balusters, and cornice 
moldings. The results were large (by today's standards), imposingly 
tall houses, whose rich ornamentation sometimes embellished the over­ 
all design, but, in otker cases merely contributed a great deal of 
"Meaningless addenda." The Glover House, as the above description and 
accompanying photographs indicate, exemplifies most of these stylistic 
features and contradictions,

2
Born in ISS^in Newtown, Henry Beers Glover was a successful bus­ 

iness man. In 1855, he joined a number of his substantial neighbours 
to found the Newtown Savings Bank, serving as its treasurer for most 
of the institution's first fifteen years. In 1859, he became a director
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surrounds and wide sills supported by squared corbels. The first- 
floor windows on both the north and south sides between the projecting 
bays and the front facade have elaborate hoods-consisting of steeply- 
pitched metfil roofs, a molded cornice, and a frieze or "skirt" of 
cutout %tfooden circles connected by narrow rectangles* The house's 
main cornice is fairly wide and deep, and is supported by heavy but 
rather simple brackets, paired at the corners* The front porch is 
supported by four richly-carved, fluted Corinthian columns, and rests 
at either end of the main facade on engaged, squared columns of a 
matching design* All of the porch columns rest on rectangular pedestals 
at the level of the wide railing, between which are nicely turned balus­ 
ters. The front double door is framed by a heavily molded surround 
which forms a segmental arch above. Each door consists of three pan- 
els, the upper most being glass in the shape of a pointed arch. On 
the south side of the house towards the rear, there is a door contain­ 
ing two narrow, etched-giass panels* Above this door is a flat- 
roofed hood, supported by large consoles with cutout sides. Along the 
back of the kitchen ell there is a plain rear porch, without brackets, 
supported by squared columns, undoubtedly for the use of the servants 
on hot summer evenings. The rear gallery leading out from the morning 
room has a bracketed flat roof supported by squared columns. Unfor­ 
tunately, the balusters under the"rail have been replaced and the 
whole edifice show® signs of neglect, finally, it is interesting to 
note that the house lacks the iron cresting found on many contem­ 
poraneous structures. Indeed, except for the stubby wooden finial 
above the central pavillion, the roof is without ornament (the plain 
chimneys are placed towards the middle of the upper flattened roof, 
out of sight from the street).

The arrangement of the rooms within the house reveals a great 
deal about the domestic organisation of a large upper-middle class 
Victorian residence. The house has two distinct parts the main 
block towards the front for the family and the rear ell for the ser­ 
vants who were so necessary for the day-to-day running of such an'es­ 
tablishment. Thus, on the first floor'of the main block, one finds 
large, beautifully finished public rooms leading off from an impres­ 
sive central hallway. From the main entry, there are doors on either 
side of the hall leading to the front parlors. Behind these rooms 
are, on the south, a large dining room', and, on the north, a smaller 
morning or breakfast room. This latter room is particularly impres­ 
sive, with narrow French doors and an eight-light transom above" 
leading out to a sheltered gallery. The position of this room, facing 
east, was obviously designed to catch the morning sun, flooding the 
room with warmth and, light. On the second floor, there are four large
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bedrooms, with a dressing room (now a bathroom) between those in 
front* Three extra bedrooms are located on the third floor, a fourth 
room serving for storage and containing a larg© wooden water cistern. 
Ihis construction, together with the stone cistern in the basement, 
supplied the house with running water. It is a large, rectangular 
structure whose obviously enormous weight when full is partly supported 
by a massive king-post truss along one side*

The service ell is a self-contained world. On both the first 
and second floors, access to and. from this section of the house is 
through a handsome door with narrow, etched-glass panels, panels which 
allow light but not sight to pass. The first floor is entirely devoted 
to the kitchen. Between the dining room and the kitchen, there is a 
carefully fitted-out storage area of cabinets and drawers for the 
family's silver and china. Below the kitchen is a laundry* At the 
east end there is a large brick fireplace and hearth where the stove 
on which the great copper boilers for the clothes once must1 - have 
rested. On. the other side of the root, there is a triple laundry 
tub of stone slabs resting on. stout iron legs and still having the 
remnants of hinged oak covers. In the main section of the basement, 
there is a food storage room that still contains the potato and onion 
bins, trays for apples, and shelves for vegetable canning jars and 
preserves* Above the kitchen, on the ell's uppermost floor, there 
are two bedrooms and a large walk-in closet* The presence of only two 
bedrooms here suggests that the house was run by a cook-general and 
a parlor maid, and that most likely their labor" was supplemented by 
employees hired from town. Besides a charwoman and perhaps a laun­ 
dress, certainly several men must have been employed" to maintain the 
grounds and tend the horses. In. sum, the service ell was a private 
area separated by etched-glas© doors from the rest of the house. Prom 
here, the servants were summoned by a series of bells (indeed, a foot- 
operated, bell-ringing device can still be seen in the dining room 
floor). The servants had their own "backstairs", and although their 
work obviously carried them into all parts of the house, their home 
must have been the table in the kitchen where they took their meals 
and the porch at the rear of the ell where they sat on warm evenings.

The interior decoration of the house is opulent; and yet without
the oriental rugs, overstuffed chairs and heavy draperies which prob­ 
ably complemented every room, it seems somewhat inadequate when com­ 
pared to the exterior. The most significant detail is the elaborate 
moldings constructed of thick round sections built up on each other 
to form door and window surrounds without classical precedent. This 
type of molding is also used as a cornice in the public rooms; and;
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over the main, door and those leading into the parlors from the front 
hall, it takes the form of a segmental arch. Another detail is the 
deiling ornaments in each of the main rooms of the first and second 
floors, These are centrally located plaster circles and ovals which 
display a number of interesting motifs including flowers, festoons, 
and acanthus leaves. Also of note are the marble fireplaces in the 
south parlor t dining room and, morning room (that in the north parlor 
has been unfortunately replaced by a large brick "colonial" affair). 
These fireplaces are shallow (for burning coal), with rounded openings 
and decorative firescreens. Above the mantels in the south parlor and 
dining room are large, richly carved, wslnut mirrors with burl and 
gold leaf trim. Other features include: a walnut staircase from the 
first to tbe second floor consisting of a wide, molded rail and fine, 
eight-sided balusters, terminating in a heavy newel post with beaded 
side panels| a finely constructed built-in cabinet on the west wall 
of the morning room with arched, double glass doors surrounded by a 
delicate rope-twist molding; and some highly decorative doorknob's 
throughout the house with elaborate brass knobs for the downstairs 
public rooms, crystal-like glass knobs for the principal bedrooms, 
and knobs of china with applied designs for the servants* rooms.

Finally, it should be noted that behind the house towards the 
northeast corner of the lot there is a large carriage house. This 
building has a wide central doorway with a hayloft door above, a 
round, window above that which has an interesting cartouche^keystone, 
There ar© several box stalls below the main floor, and the whole 
edifice Is topped by a cupola with finial.
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of the First National Bank of Bridgeport, an important position which 
denoted his abilities and wealth

The large, fashionable house that Henry Beers Glover built, 
mirrored the prosperity of one of the town's wealthiest residents.
Glover was a leader in many areas of the town's life. In particular, 
he was an active supporter of Trinity Episcopal Church, serving as 
a member of the building committee which oversaw the construction of 
a new church in 1870, a project to which he gave liberally.5

Unfortunately, Glover did not live long enough to enjoy fully 
his new horn®, completed in 1869, nor the new church. He died on 
March 31, 1870, after a short illness, only forty-five years old. 
As the obituary writer £6r the Danbury $Tews:;noted:

The deceased was a man. of considerable wealth, an able fin­ 
ancier and businessman, and has passed ai^/ay ere he had 
reached the meridian of life,6

Th® death of Henry Beers Glover left the ownership of the new 
house in the possession of his wife and his two daughters. His wife, 
however, died five years later, leaving the two girls wealthy orphans.

One daughter, Mary B. Slover, a high-spirited individualist, 
married Ahgrpdudte of the Tale Law School in 1891, William J. Beecher 
who had come to Newtown some years earlier to practice as an attorney. 
This union created a good, deal of opposition, among Miss Glover's 
family, for Beecher was a Roman Catholic. Indeed, on returning from 
the ceremony in New York, Beecher was barred from entering his wife's 
home by Mary's sister, and was forced to sleep in his old bachelor's 
quarters for a few days until the sister relented, a story which was 
recounted with considerable mirth for many years after he and Mary 
became the sole owners of Glover House.7

William J. Beecher, however, was an unusally able man who, by 
force of character, overcame all local prejudice concerning his re­ 
ligion. His practice in Newtown flourished, he v/as elected Town 
Olerk, and afterwards served as Judge of Probate.8 In his later 
years, he had his office in the house's morning room, entertaining 
clients and friends who would enter through the door which opened 
on to the rear veranda.9

After the death of Beecher and his wife, the house passed to 
their daughter, Florence Beecher who married an. army officer, Ste­ 
phen E. Budd about 1918. They kept horses in the carriage house
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and, in summer, were a familiar sight on the backroads of Newtown. 
After her husband*s death, Florence Budd continued to reside in the 
©lover House until, her own demise in 1977. 10

The house is now the property of Mr, Mark Oppenheimer, an
attorney.

Although the architect of the Glover House is unknown, an ed­ 
ucated guess as to his identity may be made. As was noted, Henry 
Beers Glover was a member of the Trinity Church building committee, 
The architect of this edifice was Silas N, Beers, a local man who 
was a surveyor and a map maker besides being an amateur architect. 
Glover, then, knew Beers well; and according to one source, Beers 
also designed several homes in Newtown, although their locations are 
undlear,-1"3- Thus, it seems probable that Beers who, as the Gothic 
Revival Trinity Church reveals, was a skillful architect, also 
Supplied Glover with the plans for his house.
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